2002

Jean Levanger and Rebecca Levanger v. Joann Vincent, Ken Fisher, Diane Duplanty, Ron Duplanty, Jan Nemcik, Becky Nelson, Rosie Petronell, Cory Alsberg, Gerald Vincent, Sandy Fisher, Scott Featherstone, Martin Roguschka, Lance Swedish, Laurel Kangas, John Does 1-5, Jane Does 1-5, and Highland Estates Properties Owners Association, Inc., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Supreme Court had original appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), and transferred it to this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4). Jurisdiction in this Court is pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) by transfer from the Supreme Court. (R. 1632.)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal presents the following issues for this Court:

(a) Whether the trial court erred in denying Highland Estates' motion for directed verdict on the issue of standing under Rule 23.1 at the close of Plaintiffs' case where the LeVangers presented no evidence on this issue to the trial court and where the issues of standing had not been waived or previously decided.

(b) Whether the trial court erred in denying Highland Estates' motion for directed verdict on the issue of substantial benefit at the close of Plaintiffs' case where the LeVangers presented no evidence on this issue to the trial court.

Standard of Review: When a party challenges a trial court's denial of a motion for directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the basis of insufficiency of the evidence, an appellate court will reverse where, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, the court concludes that the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict. See Brewer v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R., 2001

UT 77; 31 P.3d 557 (Utah 2001); Heslop v. Bank of Utah, 839 P.2d 828, 839 (Utah 1992); see also Scudder v. Kennecott Copper Corp., 886 P.2d 48, 52 (Utah 1994).

PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUES AT THE TRIAL COURT

The issue of Plaintiffs' lack of standing under Rule 23.1 was first raised as a defense in Defendant's Answer. (R. 0074.) The Plaintiffs' lack of standing was presented to the trial court in a Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Highland Estates, which was denied. (R. 208-215.) The standing and substantial benefit issues were brought before the trial court in Highland Estates' Motion for Evidentiary Hearing and again in Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment filed after the first appeal of this case. (R. 1269-1271, 1311-12, 1384-89, 1430-1433.)

On June 26, 2001, the trial court held a hearing regarding Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendant's Motion for Evidentiary Hearing. Defendant informed the trial court that the issues of standing under Rule 23.1 and substantial benefit, among other issues, would need to be addressed at an evidentiary hearing. (R. 1634, p. 3.) The trial court granted Defendant's Motion for Evidentiary Hearing and scheduled a trial. (R. 1445.)

On September 19, 2001, a trial was held where Defendant again presented the issues of standing under Rule 23.1 and substantial benefit. (R. 1634, p. 15.) The trial court requested that the parties submit written closing arguments. (R. 1634, p. 148.)

Defendant again set forth the issues of standing and substantial benefit in its Written Closing Argument. (R. 1511-1526.) At no time did the Plaintiffs present any evidence regarding the issue of standing or substantial benefit.

The trial court entered findings from the evidentiary hearing on December 16, 2001. (R. 1555.) Defendant filed its timely Notice of Appeal on January 7, 2002. (R. 1567-68.)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Rule 23.1 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is determinative of this appeal.

This Rule provides in full:

In a derivative action brought by one or more shareholders or members to enforce a right of a corporation or of an unincorporated association, the corporation or association having failed to enforce a right which may properly be asserted by it, the complaint shall be verified and shall allege (1) that the plaintiff was a shareholder or member at the time of the transaction of which he complains or that his share or membership thereafter devolved on him by operation of law, and (2) that the action is not a collusive one to confer jurisdiction on a court of the United States which it would not otherwise have. The complaint shall also allege with particularity the efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires from the directors or comparable authority and, if necessary, from the shareholders or members, and the reasons for his failure to obtain the action or for not making the effort. The derivative action may not be maintained if it appears that the plaintiff does not fairly and adequately represent the interests of the shareholders or members similarly situated in enforcing the right of the corporation or association. The action shall not be dismissed or compromised without the approval of the court, and notice of the proposed dismissal or compromise shall be given to shareholders or members in such manner as the court directs.

Utah R. Civ. P. 23.1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is an action brought by Jean and Rebecca LeVanger, as a purported derivative action under Rule 23.1, against Highland Estates Properties Owners Association, Inc. (“Highland Estates”), and members of its former board of trustees, alleging that the manner in which the Association’s amended CC&R’s were approved was improper and contrary to the Association’s organizational documents and Utah law. (R. 001-009.) In addition, the LeVangers sought attorneys fees for conferring a substantial benefit on Highland Estates.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION.

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint January 21, 1997. (R. 9.) Defendant Highland Estates filed its Answer February 26, 1997. (R. 77.)

Highland Estates filed a Motion for Summary Judgment November 26, 1997. (R. 198.) The Motion was set for hearing before Judge Nehring on January 9, 1998. (R. 411.) The Court issued an order granting in part Highland Estates partial summary judgment on May 28, 1998. (R. 467.)

Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Reconsider the Decision Granting Partial Summary Judgment or to Certify the Order as Final and Appealable on July 16, 1998. (R. 479.) A hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider was held before Judge Brian, on October 7, 1998. At the hearing, the Court denied Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider and granted

Plaintiffs' Motion to Certify the Summary Judgment as Final pursuant to Rule 54(b) and thereafter signed an Order to that on March 3, 1999. (R. 1063.)

Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on March 31, 1999 and appealed only the issue of the propriety of the mail-in ballot process. (R.1074.) The case was subsequently transferred to the Court of Appeals by Order dated May 18, 1999. (R. 1145.) This Court reversed the trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of Highland Estates and determined that the manner in which the members of Highland Estates had adopted the amended CC&R's did not conform with the pertinent operating documents and Utah Statutes. See Levanger v. Vincent, 2000 UT APP. 103; 3 P.3d 187 (Utah Ct. App. 2000).

After this case was remanded to the trial court, the LeVangers moved for summary judgment on the issue of attorneys fees, claiming they were legally entitled to the same. (R. 1194-96.) Highland Estates moved the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing on the factual issues relating to whether Plaintiffs were legally entitled to attorneys fees, including the issues of standing and substantial benefit. (R. 1269-71, 1430-33.) Highland Estates opposed Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that: (1) the LeVangers had no standing to bring their claims as they did not fairly and adequately represent the association as required by Rule 23.1 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; (2) that the LeVangers had not conferred a substantial benefit on Highland Estates that would entitle them to collect attorneys fees; and (3) that the claimed

fees were not reasonable.¹ (R. 1311-12, 1384-89.) The trial of these issues was held on September 19, 2001. (R. 1555.) At the close of Plaintiffs' case, Defendant moved the court to enter a directed verdict as Plaintiffs had presented no evidence whatsoever regarding the issues of standing under Rule 23.1 or regarding substantial benefit. (R. 1634, pp. 79-84.) The court took the motion under advisement. (Id.)

Following the evidentiary hearing, the trial court entered a Ruling, dated November 27, 2001, and subsequently signed an Order, dated December 11, 2001 granting the LeVangers \$41,327.15 in attorneys fees and costs. (R. 1554-55.) Defendant timely filed its Notice of Appeal on January 7, 2002. (R. 1567-68.) Highland Estates appeals from this Order given that the LeVangers presented no evidence whatsoever that they had standing under Rule 23.1 or that they had conferred a substantial benefit on the association.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

1. Highland Estates is a homeowners association that consisted of approximately 260 members at the relevant time period. (R. 1089.)

2. On July 6, 1964 the Restrictive Covenants of Highland Estates (hereinafter "1964 CC&R's") were recorded in Summit County. (R. 1316-19.)

3. The 1964 CC&R's were amended on March 14, 1972. (R. 1321-24.)

¹ Highland Estates is not seeking appellate review of its arguments regarding the reasonableness of the attorneys fees as part of this appeal.

4. On October 30, 1972, the Articles of Incorporation of Highland Estates Properties Owners Association, Inc. were filed with the State of Utah, incorporating Highland Estates as a nonprofit corporation. (R. 1325-26.)

5. In the late 1970's, Highland Estates adopted a set of Bylaws (hereinafter "Original Bylaws"). The Original Bylaws gave the Association and the Board of Trustees the authority to make assessments and the ability to establish liens against the homeowners in the association. The Original Bylaws fully set forth the authority, purpose and basis of the Board of Trustees' power to assess and lien. (R. 1327-37.)

6. The Original Bylaws also gave the Association the ability to amend the Bylaws by a majority vote at a regularly convened or specially convened Association meeting. (R. 1327-37.)

7. In 1990 the 1972 CC&R's were again amended to create an architectural committee. (R. 1338-41.)

8. Annual member meetings were attended by very few members. The lack of attendance made it impossible for the Board of Trustees to transact any business without holding a reconvened meeting. (R. 203.)

9. The Board of Trustees, during 1993 and 1994, determined that the 1972 CC&R's needed to be amended. (R. 304.)

10. In the Spring of 1994, Highland Estate's General Counsel, Scott Welling, was asked by the Board of Trustees to draft an Amendment to Declarations and Restrictive and Protective Covenants ("Amended CC&R's"). A draft was presented to

the members in attendance at the Association's 1994 annual meeting held in June, 1994. Attorney Welling was present at the annual meeting and advised the members present of the legal aspects of the proposed changes. (R. 303-08.) There were not enough members present at the June 1994 meeting to constitute a quorum. (R. 262.)

11. At the conclusion of the discussions, everyone present at the annual meeting voted to accept the Amended CC&R's and to allow until July 15, 1994 for comment by other homeowners. (R. 262.)

12. It was suggested by Mr. Welling at the June 1994 meeting that the vote on the Amended CC&R's be undertaken by means of a written ballot, to be delivered to all members, along with a copy of the draft Amended CC&R's. (R. 262, 305.)

13. At the suggestion of Mr. Welling, the trustees, and all members present at the 1994 annual meeting, agreed that the most effective and fair way to inform the greatest number of homeowners of the proposed changes to the 1972 CC&R's was by mail-in written ballot. (R. 305, 262.)

14. Efforts to ensure as much input from the owners on the proposed amendment cost the Association several thousand dollars in attorney's fees and copy costs, let alone the time and effort of individual Board members and Officers that would not have been extended in submitting the Amended CC&R's to members at a reconvened meeting. (R. 305-06.)

15. The Plaintiffs were not present at the June 1994 meeting. (R. 206.)

16. On August 23, 1994, Attorney Welling, on behalf of Highland Estates, prepared a letter to each member of Highland Estates stating that a copy of the proposed amendment to the 1972 CC&R's was attached to the letter and a ballot to officially register each member's vote of the proposed amendments to the CC&R's. (R. 306.) The letter indicated that the Amendment had the approval of the Board of Trustees and more than forty homeowners in attendance at the annual meeting in June, 1994. Attorney Welling explained the purpose of the Amendment and requested that ballots be returned no later than November 30, 1994. (R. 158, 305-07.)

17. Mr. Welling's letter, along with a ballot and a voting draft of the Amended CC&R's was to be hand delivered to each of the members of Highland Estates. (R. 305.) In August 1994, Plaintiffs received by hand delivery the letter from Attorney Welling, a voting ballot and a draft of the Amended CC&R's. (R. 205, 233.)

18. The Plaintiffs did not lodge an objection to the Amended CC&R's, nor did they vote on the CC&R's. In fact, Plaintiffs did nothing with respect to the CC&R's until the CC&R's had been ratified by a majority of the members of Highland Estates and had been recorded in the Summit County Recorder's Office. (R. 205, 233-34.)

19. In January 1995, the Board of Trustees of Highland Estates sent a newsletter to each homeowner stating that the voting period for the Amended CC&R's had been extended and encouraged members who had not voted to do so. (R. 264.)

20. The voting deadline of November 30, 1994, was never intended to be an automatic cut-off date for submission, merely an inducement to motivate homeowners to

act as soon as possible. (R. 306.) A majority of member owners voted in favor of the Amended CC&R's, the vote on the Amended CC&R's was 149 in favor, 26 opposed and 87 who did not respond. (R. 306.)

21. On September 28, 1995, Highland Estates held its annual homeowners meeting at 7:30 p.m. at the Burns Fire Station. The minutes of the annual meeting reflect that an announcement had been made that the Amended CC&R's had been approved by the majority of homeowners, that the ballots would be verified and upon completion, and that the Amended CC&R's would be recorded with the County. The sign-in sheet indicated that Plaintiffs were not present at the September 28, 1995 meeting. (R. 266-67.)

22. On October 5, 1995, Highland Estates caused to be filed with the Summit County Recorder's Office, the Amended CC&R's. (R. 270-80.) The amendments had the effect of making the following changes: (1) allowing the Board of Trustees to amend the Bylaws without a vote by the Association; (2) allowing the Association's members to vote by mail-in ballot rather than at a convened meeting; and (3) incorporating into the CC&R's the assessment and lien authority already provided for under the Original Bylaws (hereinafter "1995 Amendments"). (R. 1342.)

23. Since the enactment of the 1995 Amendments neither the Board of Trustees nor the Association has taken any action whatsoever under any provision of the 1995 CC&R's. The 1995 Amendments have never been used in any manner by the Association. (R. 1354-59.)

24. All actions taken by the Association since the enactment of the 1995 Amendments have been authorized under either the 1990 CC&R's or the Original Bylaws. (R. 1338, 1327, 1354-59.)

25. The Association has caused liens to be recorded against various property owners which actions were authorized under the Original Bylaws. (R. 1327, 1354-59.)

26. The Board of Trustees has revised the Architectural Guidelines, which authority was provided for under the 1990 CC&R's and Original Bylaws. (R. 1354-59.)

27. Since the enactment of the 1995 Amendments, the Association has made the following amendments to its operating documents:

(A) The CC&R's were amended in 1997 pursuant to the regular meeting process as outlined in the Original Bylaws in order to add a provision regarding common areas and correct a typographical error regarding indemnification. This amendment was not enacted pursuant to any authority provided for in the 1995 Amendments. (R. 1354-59.)

(B) The CC&R's were again amended in 1999 pursuant to the regular meeting process as outlined in the Original Bylaws in order to add a provision regarding residential zones and to give the Board of Trustees the authority to amend the Bylaws without a vote

by the Association. This amendment was not enacted pursuant to any authority provided for in the 1995 Amendments. This amendment in part restored the changes that would have been in place had the LeVangers not brought their lawsuit. (R. 1354-59.)

(C) The Original Bylaws were updated and clarified on or about November 29, 1999 pursuant to the regular meeting process as outlined in the Original Bylaws. This amendment was not enacted pursuant to any authority provided for in the 1995 Amendments. (R. 1354-59.)

(D) The Articles of Incorporation were updated and clarified in November of 1999 pursuant to the regular meeting process as outlined in the Original Bylaws. This amendment was not enacted pursuant to any authority provided for in the 1995 Amendments. (R. 1354-59.)

27. The Plaintiffs, who are 20-year homeowners in the association, had failed to pay the \$37 annual association assessments that had begun accruing since 1991. (R. 207, 285.)

28. Given the Plaintiffs' failure to pay their assessments, the association filed a lawful lien against the LeVangers in an attempt to collect the monies due and owing. (R. 206.)

29. Plaintiffs then filed a purported derivative action pursuant to Rule 23.1 against Highland Estates on January 21, 1997. (R. 9.) Plaintiffs' Complaint sets forth causes of action for "Breach of Fiduciary Duty" and "Breach of Fiduciary Duty – Gross Mismanagement" and seeks rescission of the 1995 Amendments, attorneys fees and punitive damages. (R. 2-3, 5.) Plaintiffs contemporaneously filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order. (R. 60-62.)

30. Defendant filed its Answer on February 26, 1997. (R. 77.) Defendant included the following defenses:

SECOND DEFENSE

The Verified Complaint fails to state a cause of action under Rule 23.1 U.R.C.P. upon which relief may be granted, in that plaintiffs have failed identify [sic] any right which defendant Association has failed enforce [sic].

* * *

1. In response to the allegations of paragraph 1, Defendant Association denies that plaintiffs have standing or qualification to bring such action under Rule 23.1 U.R.C.P. and denies that such action is brought in the right and for the benefit of Highland Estates.

(R. 74.)

31. It was not until September 26, 1997, that Plaintiffs noticed a hearing on their Temporary Restraining Order. (R. 165-166.)

32. On September 30, 1997, Plaintiffs' Motion for Temporary Restraining Order was heard by the trial court. Judge Brian denied Plaintiffs' Motion for Temporary Restraining Order stating in a minute entry that the Plaintiffs had failed to meet their

burden under the rules. (R. 167.) In addition, Judge Brian scheduled a two-day bench trial for January 22 and 23, 1998 with a pre-trial conference set for January 14, 1998. (R. 167.)

33. Before the scheduled trial date, Highland Estates filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was fully briefed by both parties. The matter came on for oral argument at a hearing before Judge Nehring on January 9, 1998. The hearing was held two weeks before the scheduled trial of January 22 and 23. (R. 1084-1144.)

34. From the bench, Judge Nehring granted partial summary judgment to Highland Estates, holding as a matter of law, that the Board of Trustees acted properly by accepting mail-in ballots to approve the 1995 Amendments. (R. 1130.)

35. However, Judge Nehring declined to grant Defendant summary judgment on the issue of standing under Rule 23.1, finding that:

Based upon the record before the Court, there are insufficient facts and insufficient grounds to, as a matter of law, determine that the plaintiffs are inappropriate parties to bring this action.

(R. 1130, 1135, attached as Appendix A.)

36. At the end of the hearing, Counsel for Plaintiff requested that the ruling on the issue of mail-in ballots be certified for interlocutory appeal. (R.1136.)

Throughout the remainder of the hearing, Plaintiffs' counsel continued to emphasize the fact that the ruling on the Motion for Summary Judgment did not dispose of the entire case. (R. 1137-43.) The trial court agreed that his ruling did not dispose of the entire

case and that the matter could properly be certified for interlocutory appeal when the proper papers were presented to the court. (R. 407.)

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