2002

Jean Levanger and Rebecca Levanger v. John Vincent, Ken Fisher, Diane Duplanty, Ron Duplanty, Jan Nemcick, Becky Nelson, Rosie Petronella, Cory Alsberg, Gerald Vincent, Sandy Fisher, Scott Featherstone, Martin Roguschka, Lance Swedish Laurel Kangas, and Highland Estate Properties Owners Association, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

the financial burden if the court found that some, but not enough, benefit was conferred in a particular case.

R. 1552.

21. At the conclusion of the September 19th hearing, the trial court agreed that the LeVangers had not waived the right to present evidence on the standing issue, if necessary to preserve their right to pursue the action:

MR. ROBINSON: And I apologize for interrupting, but we do need to reserve the standing issue of -- if that's -- I mean that --

THE COURT: Well, here's the thing. I don't know if it's a big issue or not. What I'm proposing is that you each have until a week from Friday, the 28th, at 5:00 to file any supplemental brief you want. It can include standing, it can include entitlement fees, it can include the summary of the testimony on the reasonableness and necessity in the way of a closing. And, frankly, standing is not an issue or, if it is, it may be factual and I'll have to consider another hearing. I mean -- but you're not waiving it at this time.

MR. ROBINSON: Right.

THE COURT: But I may determine, based on the brief, that it's not even an issue or I may determine we need more, and I could determine, you know, Mr. Belnap's right, there's no standing. So I cannot tell you. You'll have to make your best argument of what I should do with it.

MR. ROBINSON: I understand.

R. 1634, p.148.

22. The Court entered its ruling awarding Plaintiffs their attorneys' fees and costs on November 27, 2001. R. 1551-1553.

23. Based on the Court's written ruling, Plaintiffs provided a proposed Order to defendant Highland Estates by hand delivery on November 29, 2001. R. 1556.

24. On November 29, 2001, Plaintiffs mailed a copy of the proposed order to the Clerk of the Court, Summit County. R. 1554-1556.

25. The Court, after the time for objection had run, signed the Order on December 11, 2001. R. 1555. Plaintiffs' counsel personally contacted the Court's Clerk on December 11, 2001, to inquire as to the Judge's availability to sign the Order. R. 1610-1611. The Clerk informed plaintiffs' counsel that the Order had already been signed. R. 1611.

26. A Writ of Garnishment, directed to garnishee, Bank One Utah, N.A., was duly issued and served upon the garnishee on December 11, 2001. R. 1570-1576. The Garnishee mailed notice to defendant Highland Estates of the garnishment and of defendant's rights under Rule 64. R. 1575.

27. The Affidavit of garnishee indicated that the Notice was mailed to Highland Estates on December 19, 2001. R. 1575.

28. Highland Estates knew of the signing of the Order by at least December 28, 2001.

29. The trial court granted the Association's subsequent motion seeking return of the garnished funds. R. 1621-1626.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The LeVangers, on behalf of all members of the Association, contested the methods employed by the Board of the Association to amend the CC&R's affecting the members' property. The trustees chose to employ a mail-in balloting process, inventing new rules or ignoring established rules of corporate governance as it suited their purposes in allegedly obtaining approval for the amended CC&R's. Their methods were fatally defective -- no record date for members entitled to vote was established; notice of the altered method for approving the amendments was not provided to all members; the deadline for voting was unilaterally extended, without advance notice; property owners who became such only after the voting process began were allowed to cast ballots; voting tallies were improperly kept.

In its appeal, the Association has not marshalled all the evidence from the record that supports the trial court's determination that the LeVangers are proper representatives and entitled to their fees. The LeVangers have standing to pursue this action, since the adequacy of LeVangers representation of the other members of the Association has been previously resolved. The Association has the burden of establishing that the LeVangers are inadequate representatives and it has not met its burden. Alternatively, the Association has waived the standing issue since it has not objected to the award of substantive relief to the LeVangers.

At the very least, the LeVangers are entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the issue of their standing as adequate representatives since they preserved the issue with the trial court.

The LeVangers, through their derivative action, have conferred a substantial benefit on the Association and its Members by this action. Maintaining the integrity of the voting process is a substantial benefit, as is reaffirming the in-person meeting process, and enforcing strict compliance by the Association and its Board with applicable statute.

The Association is not entitled to the return of garnished funds.

ARGUMENT

I. The Association Has Not Marshalled All the Evidence.

As this Court has noted:

[I]n order to challenge a trial court's findings of fact on appeal, the challenger "must marshal *all* the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient to support the findings in question." . . . We will uphold the trial court's findings of fact if a party fails to appropriately marshal all of the evidence. . . . Defendant has not properly marshaled the evidence but has merely recited the findings on point and then highlighted the evidence which he deems contrary to the findings. Accordingly, we do not disturb the trial court's findings and affirm the awards on appeal.

Marshall v. Marshall, 915 P.2 508, 516 (Utah Ct.App. 1996).

Here, as in Marshall, all the Association has done is recite the evidence in the record it contends does not support the trial court's conclusion. The Association must deal with the evidence

in the record, including all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, that supports the trial court's decision, and demonstrate how that evidence remains insufficient to justify the trial court's decision.

Particularly, as regards the trial court's conclusion that Judge Nehring did reach the merits of the standing issue and effectively held that the LeVangers had standing. The Association does nothing to marshall all the evidence that would support such a conclusion by the trial court.

As indicated in the LeVangers' statement of facts herein, there is ample evidence to support the trial court's decision. This Court need only review the facts set forth above, particularly paragraphs 4 through 18 to understand how far short the Association has fallen in marshalling **all** the evidence.

II. The LeVangers Have Standing to Pursue This Action.

The LeVangers standing to pursue this action is limited to the issue of the adequacy of their representation of the other members of the Association similarly situated. The issue has been previously resolved or, in the alternative, the Association has waived the issue. In any event, and just as importantly, it is the Association's burden to establish that the LeVangers are inadequate representatives.

A. The Adequacy of LeVangers Representation of the Other Shareholders Has Been Previously Resolved.

The LeVangers have alleged and proven their right to represent all property owners similarly situated in prosecuting

this action. On at least two occasions, the Association's motion attacks on the adequacy of plaintiffs' representation have been rejected.

Defendant first attempted to attack the adequacy of plaintiffs' representation in connection with its motion for summary judgment in 1998. Most of the written material, the memoranda, the affidavits and the oral argument in the hearing on January 6, 1998 dealt with the adequacy of representation. The Association argued the alleged inadequacy of representation on four bases:

- (1) the plaintiffs's sole motive for bringing this action was vindication against certain Board members;
- (2) plaintiffs' personal interest substantially outweigh any derivative interests; (3) economic antagonism exists between the LeVangers and the members; and (4) plaintiffs have virtually no support from the other members.

R. 211-212.

The trial court rejected all of the Association's contentions and the issue of standing and it lost. Judge Nehring determined that the Association had failed to meet its burden of challenging the adequacy of the LeVangers' representation and denied the Association's motion to disqualify plaintiffs as adequate representatives.

Such a result is not surprising. The Association offered no evidence of the LeVangers' personal animosity toward any particular Board member as being the determining factor in bringing this action. This Court, as the trial court did, need

look no further than the fact that though individual Board members were named as defendants for procedural purposes, no action has been pursued against individual members of the Board.

The LeVangers personal interests are no different than any other member of the Association -- to correct the Association's methods of operation and prevent the Association from trampling on members rights to be heard and cast informed votes, and to prevent the Association and its Board from acting contrary to the Association's charter documents, including the CC&R's, and state statutes.

As for economic antagonism, the record is clear that the LeVangers were not unique in their protests over assessments. Other members were upset with the assessment process, had paid assessments under protest, and had been delinquent in the payment of assessments.

No where is the Association's failure to discredit the LeVangers more hollow than when it contends, as it continues to do to this very day, that no other members support the LeVangers in their pursuit of justice for members of the Association. Many members, including Board members and a President of the Association, both elected by the members, signed Affidavits supportive of the LeVangers and their attempts to require the Association to act within the law. Ms. LeVanger, herself, was elected a Board member during the pendency of the present action! The facts clearly establish that many other members are so

supportive of the LeVangers in the present case that they will sign Affidavits on their behalf and will elect one of the LeVangers to serve on the Board of Trustees.

B. Highland Estates Has the Burden of Establishing that the LeVangers are Inadequate Representatives, and Did Not Meet Their Burden.

The law is clear that the Association has the burden of establishing that the LeVangers are inadequate representatives of the members of the Association. See, e.g., Riqgin v. Rea Riqgin & Sons, Inc., 738 N.E.2d 292, 299 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000) ("[F]ederal courts interpreting F.R.C.P. 23.1 have held that the burden should rest with the defendant to show that the plaintiff is not a fair and adequate representative"); Schneider v. Austin, 94 F.R.D. 44 (1982) ("Defendants bear the burden of demonstrating inadequate representation"). See also, Gottlieb v. Wiles, 11 F.3d 1004, 1014 (10th Cir. 1993):

Unlike class actions under Rule 23, in shareholder derivative suits under Rule 23.1, a preliminary affirmative determination that the named plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the other class members is not a prerequisite to the maintenance of the action. Rather, the rule provides only that the derivative suit may not be maintained if it appears that the named shareholder does not fairly and adequately represent the other shareholders.

The Association has failed to carry its burden. It failed in its original motion for summary judgment before the trial court, and it failed during the September 19th hearing.

III. The Association Has Waived the Standing Issue.

The adequacy of plaintiffs' representation was recognized by the parties on the prior appeal. Plaintiffs and defendant addressed the Utah Court of Appeals and acknowledged without qualification to the Court of Appeals that the case before the court was a "derivative action." ("This is a derivative action brought by plaintiffs" Appellant's Brief at 3. "This is an action brought by Jean and Rebecca LeVanger, as a derivative action" Appellee's Brief at 3.) Nothing in the parties' briefs or in oral argument asserted that the adequacy of plaintiff's representation had not been resolved in the trial court.

The defendant attempted again to attack the plaintiffs' adequacy as representatives in response to plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment before this court following the appellate decision. In memoranda and in oral argument, plaintiffs argued then that the issue of adequate representation had been previously resolved. On June 26, 2001, this Court rejected defendant's contention and granted plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. The Court ordered that the 1995 Amended CC&R's be rescinded and a recording to that effect be made. The Court could not have issued its order of June 26, 2001, if the plaintiffs were inadequate representatives to prosecute the action. The Court reserved for later hearing only attorney fees, i.e., reasonableness of plaintiffs' fees and the benefit

conferred to the extent that issue bore on the reasonableness of those fees.

The entire tenor of the Association's arguments before the trial court at the June 26th and September 19th hearings was that the only remaining issue before the trial court was the LeVangers' request for fees. Right at the beginning of the first hearing, the Court began by outlining the remaining issues, and counsel for the Association agreed:

THE COURT: [T]here's not a lot to be said about the underlying summary judgment, as far as the election and the validity of the amended CC&Rs. That's really not what your objection is, Mr. Belnap. It's the fees, it's the issues, of course, about probably the benefit and about the reasonableness; is that correct? On the evidentiary basis.

MR. BELNAP: It is, Your Honor.

R. 1634, p. 2.

Later on, the Association conceded that the substantive relief requested in the LeVangers' lawsuit, should be granted by the trial court based on the decision of the Court of Appeals in LeVanger, 3 P.3d 187: "So I don't know if there's anything left to try on the lawsuit itself, based on that previous discussion at the time of the summary judgment." R. 1634, p. 3.

The Court also indicated the LeVangers were entitled to substantive relief. "What's your opinion on that, Mr. Sheen? And I think you get your summary judgment on the underlying issues. I cannot imagine why you wouldn't. And I guess, in the formal matter, what the Court of Appeals gave you." R. 1634, p.

4. The Association did not object that substantive relief should be granted and that the Association should rescind its amended CC&R's.

At the Sept. 19th hearing, the Association reiterated that there was nothing more to litigate in this case than the fees requested and the form of the eventual Order on the rescission of the amended CC&R's, based on the decision of the Court of Appeals.

MR. BELNAP: If there's nothing left to litigate in the Complaint other than the fees and then the form of orders, the separate issues that we have submitted, or can submit orders on, Judge, which we have them here today that we've each prepared --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BELNAP: -- then I think that resolves it and we're ready to go.

R. 1634, p. 18.

The Association raised the standing argument in the September 19th hearing **solely** for the purpose of defeating the LeVangers attempt to recover their fees in the derivative action. "MR. BELNAP: Under Rule 23, the plaintiffs have to establish to this Court that they have standing. That issue was not decided below [sic] and remains a threshold issue for this Court to determine with respect to whether they recover attorneys fees."

R. 1634, p. 29.

Similar attempts to resurrect the standing issue at late stages of a proceeding have been rejected by the courts. Thus, in In Re Cendant Corporation Litigation, 264 F.3d 201, 251-52

(3rd Cir. 2001), the court held that the defendants waived their objections to class certification:

The Davidsons first argue that the District Court erred by failing to make explicit findings that all of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23's requirements were met when certifying the Class. . . . In their Reply Brief, the Davidsons add the argument that Rule 23(a)'s commonality requirement was not met as well. However, the Davidsons neglected to raise these arguments in a timely fashion, failing to raise them until the settlement approval stage. We thus conclude that they waived these arguments by not raising them earlier. See Joel A. v. Giuliani, 218 F.3d 132, 140 (2d Cir. 2000) (holding that objectors to a class action settlement who argued, at the settlement approval stage, that the Rule 23 requirements were not met for them in their subclass were untimely with their objection, and thus the objection was waived).

Having agreed that the LeVanger's were entitled to the affirmative relief sought in the action, the Association waived its right to subsequently contest the adequacy of the LeVangers representation of other members of the Association similarly situated.

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